NO. 47602-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JOSEPH M. DONNETTE-SHERMAN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
FOR THURSTON COURT
The Honorable Erik D. Price, Judge
Cause No. 13-1-01173-9

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS E. DOYLE, WSBA NO. 10634
Attorney for Appellant

P.O. Box 510
Hansville, WA 98340
(360) 626-0148

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

01. The trial court erred in permitting Donnette-Sherman to be represented by counsel who provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to the prosecutor's improper closing argument.
02. The trial court erred in taking challenges for cause t sidebar during jury selection.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

01. Whether Donnette-Sherman was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's misconduct during closing argument that improperly undermined the presumption of innocence and sought to shift the burden of proof to defense?
[Assignment of Error No. 1].
02. Whether the trial court violated Donnette-Sherman's right to a public trial in taking challenges for cause at sidebar during jury selection?
[Assignment of Error No. 2].

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

01. Procedural Facts

Joseph Michael Donnette-Sherman was charged by information filed in Thurston County Superior Court August 7, 2013, with assault in the second degree while armed with a deadly weapon, contrary to RCWs 9A.36.021(1)(c), 9.94A.533(4), and 9.94A.825. [CP 2].

No pretrial motions were heard regarding either a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6 hearing. Trial to a jury commenced April 21, 2015, the Honorable Erik

D. Price presiding. Neither objections nor exceptions were taken to the jury instructions. [RP 134-35]. Donnette-Sherman was found guilty, including weapon enhancement, sentenced within his standard range, and timely notice of this appeal followed. [CP 4, 43-45, 65, 77-86].

02. Substantive Facts

On August 4, 2013, sometime around six or seven in the evening, Bruce Boyles went outside to quiet his barking dog who was chained with a 20-foot cable in the front yard. [RP 80-81]. He saw Donnette-Sherman, his neighbor, “come up my driveway and up my stairs towards my dog with a machete.” [RP 80]. “He grabbed the dog’s cable and was reeling back with this machete.” [RP 82]. When Boyles indicated he was going to take pictures with his cell phone, Donnette-Sherman approached him and knocked the phone from his hand with the machete, thereby damaging both the phone and injuring Boyles’s left thumb. [RP 67, 83-85]. Boyles was able to take pictures of Donnette-Sherman with the machete during the incident, after which he called 911. [RP 87-89; State’s Exhibits 8, 9, 10].

When questioned at the scene, Donnette-Sherman, who had also called 911 to report the incident, was very cooperative and explained he had gone over to Boyles’s house to free the dog, who was chained and constantly barking. He wanted to cut his leash, believing the dog was

abused. [RP 52, 54-56, 71]. He thought what Boyles had in his hand was a weapon, saying he approached Boyles and “swung at it and struck at that time with his machete to disarm this person from it.” [RP 58]. Donnette-Sherman voluntarily provided the 22-inch-blade machete to Deputy Brooks. [RP 58-59, 64].

Donnette-Sherman rested without presenting evidence. [RP 140].

D. ARGUMENT

01. DONNETTE-SHERMAN WAS PREJUDICED AS A RESULT OF HIS COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR’S MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT THAT IMPROPERLY UNDERMINED THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE AND SOUGHT TO SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO DEFENSE.

Every criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). A criminal defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove (1) that the attorney’s performance was deficient, i.e., that the representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under the prevailing professional norms, and (2) that

prejudice resulted from the deficient performance, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the attorney's unprofessional errors, the results of the proceedings would have been different. State v. Early, 70 Wn. App. 452, 460, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994); State v. Graham, 78 Wn. App. 44, 56, 896 P.2d 704 (1995). Competency of counsel is determined based on the entire record below. State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (citing State v. Gilmore, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)). A reviewing court is not required to address both prongs of the test if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one prong. State v. Tarica, 59 Wn. App. 368, 374, 798 P.2d 296 (1990).

Additionally, while the invited error doctrine precludes review of error caused by the defendant, See State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990), the same doctrine does not act as a bar to review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Doogan, 82 Wn. App. 185, 917 P.2d 155 (1996) (citing State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 646, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

The law in Washington is clear, prosecutors are held to the highest professional standards, for he or she is a quasi-judicial officer whose duty is not merely to zealously advocate for the State, but also to ensure the accused receives a fair trial. State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d

192 (1968). Violation of this duty can constitute reversible error. State v. Boehning, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005).

Where it is established that the prosecutor made improper comments, this court reviews whether those improper statements prejudiced the defendant under one of two different standards of review. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 7761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

If a defendant, as here, fails to object to improper comments at trial, or fails to request a curative instruction, or to move for a mistrial, reversal is not always required unless the prosecutorial misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that a curative instruction could not have obviated the resultant prejudice. State v. Ziegler, 114 Wn.2d 533, 540, 789 P.2d 79 (1990). “The State’s burden to prove harmless error is heavier the more egregious the conduct is.” State v. Rivers, 96 Wn. App. 672, 676, 981 P.2d 16 (1999).

However, where the State’s misconduct violates a defendant’s constitutional rights, this court analyzes the prejudice under a different standard: the stringent constitutional harmless error standard. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 236-37, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). Under this standard, this court presumes constitutional errors are harmful and must reverse unless the State meets the heavy burden of overcoming the presumption that the error is prejudicial, Id. at 242, which requires proof

that the untainted evidence overwhelmingly supports a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

In the interests of justice, a prosecutor must act impartially, seeking a verdict free of prejudice and based on reason. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 516, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). The hallmark of due process analysis is the fairness of the trial, i.e., did the misconduct prejudice the jury and thus deny the defendant a fair trial guaranteed by the due process clause? Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 210, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78, 102 S. Ct. 940 (1982). In this context, the definitive inquiry is not whether the error was harmless or not harmless but rather did the irregularity violate the defendant's due process rights to a fair trial. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

Thus, deciding whether reversal is required is not a matter of whether there is sufficient evidence to justify upholding the verdicts. Rather, the question is whether there is a substantial likelihood that the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at 578. We do not decide whether reversal is required by deciding whether, in our view, the evidence is sufficient....

In re Glasman, 175 Wn.2d 696, 711, 286 P.3d 673 (2012).

It is misconduct for a prosecutor to make improper statements that prejudice the defendant. In re Glasman, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The prosecutor

undermined the presumption of innocence and improperly sought to shift the burden of proof to defense when he misstated the law by implying during argument that the jury need not consider the issue of self-defense if it excludes Donnette-Sherman's statements to Deputy Brooks, which happened here when the prosecutor argued:

...I submit to you that there is no, none whatsoever, evidence that the force that Mr. Donnette used on this date was justified or lawful.

[RP 167-68].

....

The only evidence you have is what he (Donnette-Sherman) told the officer when the officer went to talk to him about this incident, and he said he thought Mr. Boyles was holding a weapon, and he demonstrated how Mr. Boyles was holding the weapon, and he held his hands out like this, like somebody holding a camera, not like somebody holding a weapon.

[RP 168].

The implication that without this evidence there can be no claim of self-defense, bears directly on whether the court properly gave a self-defense instruction, which is not at issue. This court, in holding that an argument in another case amounted to prosecutorial misconduct, explained that

the prosecutor's misleading comments suggested that the codefendants must first prove self-defense to the jury, and that the State could not disprove the

affirmative defense. This is not the law in Washington.

Whether the defense has presented evidence of self-defense is a question for the trial court to address when deciding whether to instruct the jury on the law of self-defense. (citation omitted) Once the trial court has found evidence sufficient to require a self-defense instruction, that inquiry, even if erroneous, has ended. Thus, the prosecutor's argument improperly sought to shift the burden of proof to the defense.

State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 471, 284 P.3d 793 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1015 (2013).

"[A] prosecutor generally cannot comment on the lack of defense evidence because the defense has no duty to present evidence." State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 467, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Consistent with McCreven, the prosecutor's above argument, which communicates that the jury need not consider Donnette-Sherman's claim of self-defense because the only evidence is what he told the arresting officer, misstated the law and improperly undermined the presumption of innocence. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. at 471. As our Supreme Court stated in 1997, "[t]o be entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense, the defendant must produce some evidence demonstrating self-defense," and "once the defendant produces some evidence, the burden shifts to the prosecution to prove the absence

of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997).

As recently as 2012, our Supreme Court held that "it was clearly misconduct for the prosecutor to inform the jury that acquittal was appropriate only if the jury believed Glassman, and [this] shows the prosecutor's failure to prosecute this case as an impartial officer of the court." In re Glasman, 175 Wn.2d at 714. There is no telling distinction between the argument held improper in Glasman and the prosecutor's argument in this case.

Shifting the burden of proof to the defendant is improper, and ignoring this prohibition amounts to flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. Due process requires the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt, every element necessary to constitute the crime with which the defendant is charged. Misstating the basis on which a jury can acquit insidiously shifts the requirement that the State prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

In re Glasman, 175 Wn.2d at 713 (internal citations omitted).

The prosecutor's argument in this case misinformed the jury about the burden of proof. In State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 214, 921 P.2d 1996), Division I of this court held, in part, that a prosecutor's arguments constituted flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct where binding precedent recognized the impropriety of the arguments. Donnette-

Sherman's trial commenced April 21, 2015, nearly two-and-a-half years from the September 5, 2012 publication of this court's decision in McCreven, *supra*, which found similar arguments inappropriate. 170 Wn. App. at 470.

While under State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27-28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) and State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 759, our Supreme Court has held that a prosecutor's misstatement of the law could be cured by a proper instruction, the lack thereof does not serve as a bar to review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Both elements of ineffective assistance of counsel have been established in this case.

First, the record does not and could not reveal any tactical or strategic reason why trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's closing argument for the reasons previously argued. There is no reasonable explanation for why counsel failed to timely object or move for a mistrial or request a curative instruction.

To establish prejudice a defendant must show a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficient performance, the result would have been different. State v. Leavitt, 49 Wn. App. 348, 359, 743 P.2d 270 (1987), *aff'd*, 111 Wn.2d 66, 758 P.2d 982 (1988). A "reasonable probability" means a probability "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Leavitt, 49 Wn. App. at 359.

The prejudice here is self-evident and not harmless. Donnette-Sherman's entire case turned on whether the jury found that he acted in self-defense. Absent that, he was left defenseless. The jury could have inferred that he believed that Boyles had a weapon in his hand and that in response he was acting in self-defense. His attorney could have at least obtained a curative instruction, which would have prevented the prosecutor from undermining the presumption of innocence and its burden of proof relating to Donnette-Sherman's claim of self-defense. Counsel's performance was deficient, which was highly prejudicial to Donnette-Sherman, with the result that he was deprived of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, and is entitled to reversal of his conviction and remand for retrial.

02. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED DONNETTE-SHERMAN'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY TAKING CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AT SIDEBAR DURING JURY SELECTION.

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and art. I, §§ 10 and 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to a public trial. State v. Russell, 141 Wn. App. 733, 737-38, 172 P.3d 361 (2007), reviewed denied, 164 Wn.2d 1020 (2008); Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 723, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010). This right is not, however, unconditional,

and a trial court may close the courtroom in certain situations. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174-75, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). Such a closure may occur only after (1) properly conducting a balancing process of five factors and (2) entering specific findings on the record to justify so ruling. State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). A trial court's failure to conduct the required Bone-Club inquiry "results in a violation of the defendant's public trial rights." State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515-16, 122 P.3d 150 (2005). In such a case, the defendant need show no prejudice; it is presumed. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 261-62. Additionally, a defendant's failure to "lodge a contemporaneous objection" at the time of the exclusion does not amount to a waiver of his or her right to a public trial. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514-15, 517. The remedy for such a violation is to reverse and remand for a new trial. In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 814, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). This court reviews de novo the question of law of whether a defendant's right to a public trial has been violated. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514; State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

In State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 298 P.3d 148 (2013), this court, discussing State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012), State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012), and Sublett, recognized that our Supreme Court has developed a two-step process for

determining whether a particular proceeding implicates a defendant's public trial right:

First, does the proceeding fall within a specific category of trial proceedings that our Supreme Court has already established implicates the public trial right? Second, if the proceeding does not fall within such a specific category, does the proceeding satisfy Sublett's "experience and logic" test? (footnote omitted).

State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 335.

Given this court's acknowledgement in Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 335-40, that the Washington Supreme Court has established that the public trial right applies to jury selection, Donnette-Sherman addresses only whether the trial court violated his right to a public trial by taking challenges for cause at sidebar during jury selection. See State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 11-12.

The record demonstrates that during the jury selection process several prospective jurors were excused for cause at sidebar. "[T]he sidebar related to the challenges. The court asked for motions for cause and asked first from the State." [RP 30].

THE COURT: The State made the following motions, and I will take each one individually. The State moved for 10 to be excused for cause. Juror 10 had stated that she had difficulty judging other people, was uncomfortable with the process of judging other people, wasn't sure that she could do

it. Mr. Jefferson (defense counsel) had no objection to the motion, and the Court granted the motion to excuse 10 cause....

[RP 30].

THE COURT: The next one was 12. The State moved to have 12 removed for cause. 12 is a juror who stated that he had many distractions outside of this court, was concerned about his ability to concentrate because of distractions, and I believe Juror No. 12 even stated that he had difficulty concentrating in any event.

The Court observed as part of, and stated this at sidebar, in response to even a question from Mr. Jefferson that he wasn't paying attention and needed the question repeated. The defense had no objection to 12 being removed for cause, and the Court granted the motion.

[RP 30-31].

THE COURT:

....
The State next moved for 19 to be excused for cause. 19 stated during voir dire that she was uncomfortable with, quote, unquote, "The whole thing." She was anxious. She didn't like the idea of judging people, didn't like the idea of courts and I believe also stated that she was distracted with things outside court.

To the State's motion, Mr. Jefferson stated that he had no objection, although he wasn't sure that he agreed that it rose to the level of cause. The Court concurred with Mr. Jefferson that it, too, felt that 19 was somewhat - - her answers fell short of a clear cause for excusal. But in absence of the objection, the Court granted the motion.

[RP 31-32].

THE COURT: ... The next was the State moved 23 to be excused for cause. Juror No. 23 had, even previous to the voir dire process, had stated to the bailiff that he was uncomfortable, anxious, believed that, because he was anxious, he could not concentrate, would likely just go with what anybody else wanted to do, and could not think independently during the process.

To the Court's questioning during voir dire, he stated he had not been on a jury before but that was his observation of his own belief of himself. The State moved to remove for cause. Mr. Jefferson had no objection. The Court granted the motion.

[RP 32-33].

THE COURT: The next was No. 39. The State moved to remove 39 for cause. 39 stated during voir dire that she was not sure she could make a decision. She had previously said that she had an experience with jury duty in which she had remorse that held on until today, notwithstanding the fact that she believed the person was guilty in that case. She still felt badly about it and continued to feel badly about it and wasn't sure that she could participate in this trial without feelings of doubt as to her ability to do it.

The State moved to excuse for cause. Mr. Jefferson had no objection. The Court granted the motion.

[RP 33-34].

The court also noted,

at the sidebar, the Court asked Mr. Jefferson to consult freely with his client during the process of the challenges that, although Mr. Donnette would

not be at clerk's table, that the Court wanted Mr. Jefferson to have free access as much as he wanted with his client during the challenge process. Mr. Jefferson stated he understood, and the Court's observation is that is what occurred during the challenge process.

[RP 34].

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