IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOSEPH M. DONNETTE-SHERMAN Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Judge Erik Price Cause No. 13-1-01173-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jennifer Zorn Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Whether the State's closing argument improperly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant or undermined the presumption of his innocence.
- 2. Whether Donnette-Sherman received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's argument.
- 3. Whether the trial court violated the defendant's right to a public trial by taking challenges for cause at sidebar.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The State accepts Donnette-Sherman's statement of the substantive and procedural facts of the case.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. The State's closing argument did not improperly shift the burden of proof to the defendant or undermine the presumption of innocence.

Donnette-Sherman challenges several portions of the State's closing argument, claiming that he was denied his right to a fair trial by several of the statements made by the prosecutor. Those statements, even taken out of context, do not constitute misconduct nor did they in any way prejudice the defendant.

A defendant who claims prosecutorial misconduct must first establish the misconduct, and then its prejudicial effect. <u>State v. Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003) (citing to <u>State</u>

v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)). allegedly improper statements should be viewed within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions." Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at 578. Prejudice will be found only when there is a "substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." Id. A defendant's failure to object to improper arguments constitutes a waiver unless the statements are "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction to the jury." <u>Id</u>. "Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal." Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960). The absence of an objection by defense counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

While it is true that a prosecutor must act in a manner worthy of his office, a prosecutor is an advocate and entitled to make a fair response to a defense counsel's arguments. State v. Russell, 125

Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). See also State v. Dykstra, 127 Wn. App. 1, 8, 110 P.3d 758 (2005). A prosecutor has a duty to advocate the State's case against an individual. State v. James, 104 Wn. App. 25, 34, 15 P.3d 1041 (2000). It is not error for the prosecutor to argue that the evidence does not support the defense theory. State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 429, 798 P.2d 314 (1990). "When the State's evidence contradicts a defendant's testimony, a prosecutor may infer that the defendant is lying or unreliable." State v. Miles, 139 Wn. App. 879, 890, 62 P.3d 1169 (2007).

A prosecutor has wide latitude in arguing inferences from the evidence. It is not misconduct to argue facts in evidence and suggest reasonable inferences from them. Unless he unmistakably expresses a personal opinion, there is no error. Spokane County v. Bates, 96 Wn. App. 893, 901, 982 P.2d 642 (1999). A prosecutor may comment on the veracity of a witness as long as he does not express a personal opinion or argue facts not in the record. State v. Smith, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510-11, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985).

A reviewing court first determines whether the challenged comments were in fact improper. If so, then the court considers whether there was a "substantial likelihood" that the jury was

affected by the comments. Both the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22 grant defendants the right to trial by an impartial jury, but that does not include the right to an error-free trial. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). A conviction will be reversed only if improper argument prejudiced the defendant. There is no prejudice unless the outcome of the trial is affected. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). The concern is less with what was said or done than with the effect likely to result from what was said or done.

Reviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. "The criterion always is, has such a feeling of prejudice been engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a [defendant] from having a fair trial?"

<u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), quoting <u>Slattery v. City of Seattle</u>, 169 Wash. 144, 148, 13 P.2d 464 (1932).

Remarks that touch upon a defendant's constitutional rights are not per se incurable. The reviewing court is to consider the likely outcome had the defendant timely objected. <u>Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 763.

Shifting the burden of proof.

Donnette-Sherman argues that the statements of the prosecutor about the lack of evidence that force was justified or lawful somehow shifted the burden of proof to him, and that the jury could conclude that his actions were justified. Appellant's Opening Brief at 7. That simply does not logically follow. The prosecutor's full argument seems to be walking through the self-defense instruction as he does with other instructions. The prosecutor is using his case and the facts presented at trial through Deputy Brooks and Mr. Boyles to support his case. Even if these comments were somehow construed as implying that Donnette-Sherman had failed to show self-defense, it would not be error.

Generally, a prosecutor cannot comment on the lack of defense evidence because the defense has no duty to present evidence. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 467, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). But the mere mention that defense evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the burden of proof to the defense. State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553, review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1007 (2009). A prosecutor is entitled to point out a lack of evidentiary support for the defendant's theory of the case. State v. Killingsworth, 166 Wn.

App. 283, 291-92, 269 P.3d 1064, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1007 (2012). It may be misconduct for the prosecutor to say in closing argument that the defense failed to present witnesses or explain the facts of the case, or argue that the jury should find the defendant guilty just because he did not present evidence to support his theory of the defense. <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 153 Wn. App. 417, 428, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010). That didn't happen in Donnette-Sherman's case. It is not misconduct for the prosecutor to argue that the facts support a conclusion that a State witness was being truthful and that self-defense does not make sense within the facts presented. <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 150 Wn. App. 877, 888, 209 P.3d 553, *review denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1007 (2009).

The rule annunciated by this court in *State v. Litzenberger*, 140 Wash. 308, 248 P. 799 (1926), that "Surely the prosecutor may comment upon the fact that certain testimony is undenied without reference to who may or may not be in a position to deny it; and, if that results in an inference unfavorable to the accused, he must accept the burden, because the choice to testify or not was wholly his" is still good law.

State v. Ashby, 77 Wn.2d 33, 38, 459 P.2d 403 (1969).

Because Donnette-Sherman failed to object to alleged burden shifting at trial, he must establish that the misconduct was

so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. The focus is on whether the prejudice could have been cured and less on whether the conduct was flagrant and ill intentioned. Id. at 762. Here, even if there had been any prejudice from the prosecutor's comments, an instruction to the jury to disregard them would easily have cured it. There was no error.

b. Harmless error.

Donnette-Sherman argues that his constitutional rights were violated and the court should analyze the prosecutor's argument under the more stringent constitutional harmless error standard. Appellant's Opening Brief at 5. Washington courts, however, do not apply the constitutional harmless error standard to improper prosecutorial arguments, even those undermining the presumption of innocence. <u>Johnson</u>, 158 Wn. App. 677, 686, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1013, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011); <u>Warren</u>, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26 n.3, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

The State maintains that there was no error at all. However, even if any of the prosecutor's statements were error, it is most unlikely that they had any effect on the outcome of the trial. An error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the

error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected.'" State v. Smith, 106 W.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (quoting State v. Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)).

Donnette-Sherman has not shown how the prosecutor's statement had any effect on the outcome of the trial. Therefore, there was no error.

2. <u>Defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument.</u>

Donnette-Sherman claims that his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to object to the arguments which he now challenges for the first time on appeal.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an appellant must show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced him. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). First, deficient performance occurs when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). An appellant cannot rely on matters of legitimate trial strategy or tactics to establish deficient performance. State v.

<u>Hendrickson</u>, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). For example, "[o]nly in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." <u>State v. Neidigh</u>, 78 Wn. App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995) (internal quotation omitted).

While it is easy in retrospect to find fault with tactics and strategies that failed to gain acquittal, the failure of what initially appeared to be a valid approach does not render the action of trial counsel reversible error. State v. Renfro, 96 Wn.2d 902, 090, 639 P.2d 737 (1982). There is great judicial deference to counsel's performance and the analysis begins with a strong presumption that counsel was effective. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 332, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). "Because many lawyers refrain from objecting during opening statement and closing argument, absent egregious misstatements, the failure to object during closing argument and opening statement is within the 'wide range' of permissible professional legal conduct." United States v. Necoechea, 986 F.2d 1273, 1281 (1993), citing to Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Donnette-Sherman argues that there could be no tactical reason for defense counsel to refrain from objecting, but the fact that the argument was not objectionable is the most likely reason he failed to do so. In addition, he quite likely was reluctant to draw the jury's further attention to these unfavorable facts.

Even had counsel objected, it is unlikely the court would have sustained the objections and therefore Donnette-Sherman cannot show prejudice. The bottom line is that defense counsel did not render ineffective assistance

3. The trial court did not violate Donnette-Sherman's right to a public trial by taking challenges for cause at sidebar because the courtroom was not closed.

Donnette-Sherman argues that his right to a public trial, guaranteed by both the Washington Constitution article 1, § 22, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, was violated when the court heard and decided challenges for cause and excused five jurors at sidebar. The court made a record of that sidebar, with no objection from either party. RP 30-34.1

A defendant may raise a public trial claim under article 1, § 22 for the first time on appeal. If the right to a public trial has been violated, prejudice will be presumed. In re Pers. Restraint of

¹ Unless otherwise noted, references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are to the single volume of trial transcript dated April 21 and 22, 2015.

<u>Ticeson</u>, 159 Wn. App. 374, 382, 246 P.3d 550 (2011). "Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d 85, 90, 257 P.3d 624 (2011).

When addressing a public trial question, reviewing courts follow a three-part analysis:

First, we ask if the public trial right attaches to the proceeding at issue. Second, if the right attaches we ask if the courtroom was closed. And third, we ask if the closure was justified.

State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d 598, 605, 354 P.3d 841 (2015).

The right to a public trial is not absolute, but the courtroom may be closed only for the most unusual of circumstances. State v. Heath, 150 Wn. App. 121, 715, 206 P.3d 712 (2009). The right to open proceedings extends to jury selection and some pretrial motions, and a trial court must, before closing the courtroom, conduct the analysis required by State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

In <u>Bone-Club</u>, the court closed the courtroom during a pretrial suppression hearing, on the State's motion, because an undercover police officer was testifying and he feared public exposure would compromise his work. The Supreme Court found

that this temporary, full closure of the courtroom had not been justified because the trial court failed to weigh the competing interests using a five-factor test derived from a series of prior cases, including <u>Seattle Times v. Ishikawa</u>, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982). Those factors are:

- 1. The proponent of closure or sealing must make some showing [of a compelling interest], and where that need is based on a right other than an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a "serious and imminent threat" to that right.
- 2. Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure.
- 3. The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests,
- 4. The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of the closure and the public.
- 5. The order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary for the purpose.

Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d. at 258-59.

That analysis is not required unless the public is "fully excluded from the proceedings within a courtroom," <u>Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d at 92 (citing to <u>Bone-Club</u>), 128 Wn.2d at 257, or when jurors are questioned in chambers. <u>Id</u>. (citing to <u>State v. Momah</u>, 167 Wn.2d 140, 146, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) and <u>State v. Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d 222, 224, 217 P.3d 310 (2009)). The court then went on to define a closure:

[A] "closure" occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave.

Lormor, 172 Wn.2d. at 93.

A closure can also occur when part of the trial is held somewhere other than the courtroom, such as when prospective jurors are questioned in chambers. <u>Love</u>, 183 Wn.2d at 606.

Donnette-Sherman's argument presumes that the sidebars constituted a closure of the courtroom, but under these definitions, the courtroom was never closed and there was no requirement for a Bone-Club analysis.

In <u>Love</u>, the for-cause challenges were taken at the bench, presumably out of the hearing of the jury pool and any other spectators but on the record. There was minimal discussion.

THE COURT: Any for-cause challenges?

[DEFENSE]: Fifteen.

THE COURT: Fifteen? Any objection?

. . .

[STATE] I think that's—the state has no objection to No. 15 being struck for cause.

THE COURT: Mm-hm. Any others?

[DEFENSE]: Number 30.

THE COURT: Number 30?

[STATE]: Yeah. No objection.

Love, 183 Wn.2d at 602. The record of voir dire disclosed the responses of Jurors 15 and 30 that supported being struck for cause. Id.

The court in <u>Love</u> followed its previous decisions that the public trial right attaches to jury selection, including challenges for cause. <u>Love</u>, 183 Wn.2d at 606. It affirmed, however, because Love failed to show that the courtroom was closed. <u>Id</u>.

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